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Introduction

Between March 2013 and February 2014 a significant phase of internal alteration 
work was carried out at Great Saint Mary’s Church, Cambridge.  This included 
improvement of office space, changes to the arrangement of the reception and shop 
area, repairs and improvements in the Verger’s Vestry and boiler room, 
improvements to services and the addition of a new entrance screen at the west end. 

Archaeological monitoring was conducted of the below ground works, which were 
limited to the northwest corner of the church and in the Narthex, under the instruction 
of the Diocesan Archaeologist Dr Tim Reynolds; additional observation and 
photographic recording of panelling and wall mounted monuments were made at the 
request of the Project Architect, Shona Mckay of Archimage. 

Brief Historic Background

Great Saint Mary’s, the University Church (figure 1), is first recorded in 1205 with the 
present building constructed between 1478 and 1519 (RCHME 1959: 275-280). The 
tower, begun in 1491 and standing incomplete for many years, was finally completed
in 1608.  The north and south aisle galleries, enabled by a bequest from William 
Worts and intended to accommodate undergraduates and bachelors, were built in 
1736 by James Gibbs, adding some 400 seats.  There was a major phase of 
reconstruction, by James Essex, in 1766 with further work by Scott in the early 
1850s and Salvin later in that decade. The south porch was rebuilt in the 1880s. 

Layout of Report 

The report is divided into two sections. The first section deals with the archaeological 
monitoring of below ground works in the northwest corner office. The second section 
consists largely of a selection of the photographic record made of specific features 
being either moved or removed during the works. This includes panelling on the rear 
walls of the north and south aisle galleries and the stone work revealed behind the 
north gallery by its removal; four wall mounted monuments by the north door, 
panelling in an office in the northwest corner of the partitioned off north aisle (the 
former Consistory Court) and some 20th century panelling on the west wall of the 
south aisle. 

Archaeological Observations in the Narthex and northwest corner 

Narthex Test Pit 

On 19th April 2012 a stone was lifted in the Narthex on the line of the proposed door 
guide (see figure 2).  The hole measured 0.60m west to east and 0.49m north to 
south.

The stone itself was 0.13m thick sitting on c. 0.10m of loose brown earth.  Beneath 
the earth deposit was 0.12m – 0.24m of a loose mortar, chalk and limestone dump, 
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this overlying a compact mortary trample layer. This layer proved to be between 
0.05m – 0.10m thick sitting on a darker brown ‘soil’ with stones, tile fragments and 
flint within it.  The total depth of the test pit was 0.45m.

There was no evidence of any structural or burial remains within the test pit, which 
was dug to a depth greater than that required to accommodate the screen guide. No
further observations were subsequently required in this area. 

Northwest Corner Area 

Several visits were made between the 10th and 23rd of September 2013 whilst the 
raised wooden floor of what had been an office in the northwest corner (effectively 
the west end of the partitioned north aisle) was lifted and the ground beneath 
reduced to accommodate new heating pipes and for the floor to be reset at a lower 
level to match that in the Narthex. 

During the works two brick lined graves were revealed together with what remained 
of a much earlier burial cut by the later ones. The decision was made, in association 
with the DAC archaeologist, that the human remains should be left in situ. All 
recording was subsequently made from ground level and without entering either of 
the brick graves, which would have compromised the burials observed within them.  
The removal of the barrelled roof of the larger of the two lined graves allowed the 
new floor supports to be inserted without further interference. 

Results

Grave 1 

Human remains were encountered by the workmen at 0.80m below the floor whilst 
exploring a ‘soft spot’ within an otherwise compact deposit beneath the wooden floor. 
On examination it became clear that this loose material was not the original grave fill 
and that the burial had been disturbed at least once previously. The soft material 
was the backfilling of that earlier disturbance. 

The skeleton, as observed, consisted of the two tibia of a single individual. The 
patella of the right leg was present, but not the left, nor apparently either of the fibula 
or any bones of the feet.  Cleaning at the west end revealed the lower ends of both 
femurs indicating that the bones of the skeleton were in the correct anatomical 
position (and therefore this was a west to east burial as would be expected) but that 
the lower legs had been previously disturbed. 

The subsequent exposure of the two brick lined graves immediately to the west (see 
below and figures 2 and 3) showed that very little more of the skeleton could have 
survived having been truncated toward the top of the femurs. 

There was no material present in the grave to enable a date to be suggested, but 
give its stratigraphic relationship with the two later graves to the west it would 
certainly predate the 18th century and may be older still. 
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Grave 2 

Grave 2 was a large brick lined grave or tomb in the extreme northwest corner of the 
narthex.

It was constructed from orange/pink unfrogged handmade bricks measuring 230 x 
100 x 45mm (9 x 4 x 1¾ inches) set in a cream mortar. Internally the void measured 
1.22m north to south, 2.07m west to east and 1.30m from the floor to the internal 
apex of the slightly arched roof. 

Within the grave were two coffins; Coffin I on the north side, Coffin II on the south.  
Coffin I was of wooden construction with fragments of a fabric covering surviving in 
places although the overall condition was poor.  Broad headed pins, which would 
have fastened the fabric in place, were visible as was an iron ‘handle’ on the 
southern side (figure 5).  No human remains were visible in the coffin, but the shape 
indicated that this was, as might be expected, a west to east orientated burial. 

Significantly there was a badly corroded coffin plate still in place in roughly the pelvic 
area of the coffin. It was not possible to make anything out on this in situ, but 
detailed photographs were taken and it subsequently proved possible to make out 
some of the painted lettering (figure 6).

MAR(Y?) (illegible) 
died

Apl (?)0 178(?)
Ag(ed) 52 y(ear)s 

Although it is not possible to identify the individual precisely, it does confirm the date 
of the burial as being late 18th century. 

Coffin II was more elaborate. A badly decayed wooden outer shell was visible 
around a lead inner. It is possible that there was a further wooden coffin inside this, 
but it was not observable. It was not clear whether this coffin also had a fabric 
covering, but from what was visible it seems likely that it did not.  No plaque or plate 
was observed and again the remains within were not visible. Given the form of the 
grave, most likely to be a family vault, it is reasonable to presume that the second 
occupant is a close relative of Mary’s, most probably her husband. 

Grave 3 

Grave 3 was a single brick lined grave immediately to the south of Grave 2,
constructed from very similar bricks.  Internally the void measured 0.72m north to
south and 2.12m west to east.  The original height is unknown as if it had a roof in 
the past this had subsequently been removed and the grave itself was backfilled with 
loose rubbly soil.  The brickwork of the existing heating duct ran immediately over 
the top and the insertion of this had presumably led to the disturbance and back 
filling of the grave. 
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The backfill, and damage to the upper courses of the grave, meant that on initial 
exposure it was not immediately apparent that it actually was a grave.  Removal of 
some of the fill, however, exposed the top of a skull at a depth of approximately 
1.60m below the upper level of brick.  Having established that it was indeed a grave 
no further excavation was carried out. The exposure of the remains was not 
sufficient to establish whether a coffin was present, however there was certainly no 
lead coffin in the grave.  It is most likely that a wooden coffin had been present but 
had not survived the passage of time and the earlier disturbance. 

Discussion

The presence of graves in the interior of the church of this age and status is very 
much to be expected.  Burials within churches were comparatively rare prior to the 
14th century, but became relatively common from around the late 15th century 
onwards (Peters 1996, 73-4). During this period the practice was especially 
prevalent in monastic contexts, such as hospital chapels (Gilchrist & Sloane 2005, 
57). Subsequently, after c. 1600, the provision of brick-lined burial vaults became 
almost ubiquitous, particularly in urban contexts (Gilchrist & Morris 1996, 119; 
Gilchrist 2003, 402).

Across England four main types of intramural burial vault have been identified: large 
dynastic vaults, typically located beneath aisles or in side chapels; extensive private 
and parochial vaults, which often contained a large number of individuals; family 
vaults, which were usually brick-lined graves with a barrelled roof, and single-width
brick-lined graves capped by a ledger stone identifying the occupant(s) (Litten 1991, 
211-2). The two brick lined graves revealed in this work represent examples of the
last two of these categories. From the form and the date indicated by the plate in 
Grave 2 they are late 18th century in date. 

The earlier grave, Grave 1, is rather different.  It may simply represent an earlier 
intramural burial in a much simpler form than the more elaborate ones that later cut 
through it. It is possible, however, that it actually predates the construction of this 
part of the church (begun in 1478) and is a remnant of a graveyard accompanying an 
earlier version of the church, which was rather smaller in extent.  Given the limited 
survival and exposure of the burial itself and the lack of any dating evidence this 
cannot be demonstrated, but it remains an intriguing possibility.



Figure 1: Church Plan (after RCHME 1959)
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Figure 3: Graves 1 and 3

Grave 3 from the Southeast Grave 3 from the East

Grave 1 from the East Grave 1 from the North



Figure 4: Grave 2 (1)

Grave 2 Interior from the East

Grave 2 from the Southeast



Figure 5: Grave 2 (2)

Grave 2 Interior from the North

Grave 2 Interior from the East Showing Coffin FurnitureGrave 2 from the East after Removal of Roof



Figure 6: Coffin Plate from Grave 2
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Photographic Record of Internal Features 

Panelling in the Northwest Office (figures 7-10)

The office area in the northwest corner of the church had been formed within the 
turret area adjacent to the tower inside the curve of the Gibbs staircase obscuring 
both it and two windows from view. Panelling was present on the north and east 
walls, but was different in appearance on each wall.  

On the north wall the panelling extended to 1.25m high and consisted of six raised 
panels each 0.60m wide with 0.10m wide stiles set into upper and lower rails 0.10m 
deep. That the panelling is a secondary addition to the room is confirmed by the 
awkward cut partway through the fourth panel to fit around an RSJ support to the 
first floor office. 

On the east wall the panelling extended from floor to ceiling, forming the partition 
dividing this space from the rest of the north aisle.  The lower panels were 1.40m 
high with lower and middle rails 0.25m deep.  The stiles alternated at 0.25m and 
0.10m wide. The panel surface was flush with the rails and stiles.  This panelling 
probably predates the later conversion to an office and may have been in situ,
however, as figure 9 shows it is an awkward fit in the space and may equally have 
been a later insertion. 

North and South Aisle Gallery Panelling (figures 11 and 12) 

At the rear of the 1736 aisle galleries wainscot panelling extended along the full 
length on both sides.  This remained in situ throughout on the south side, but was 
removed and reset on the north. The panelling was virtually identical on both sides 
with a typical panel measuring 0.68m wide with stiles 0.13m wide, the lower rail 
0.12m deep and the upper rail 0.10m deep. Narrower panels were used at each end 
to fit.  The panelling fits awkwardly across the windows reflectling its later addition to 
the structure, but there was not sufficient information visible to determine whether or 
not the panelling was contemporary with the construction of the galleries themselves. 

Panelling at West End of South Aisle (figure 13) 

Removal of cupboards at the west end of the south aisle revealed floor to ceiling 
panelling in dark brown stained wood.  The panels were 0.68m wide with the lower 
section 0.92m high and the upper section 1.32m high. Stiles measured 0.14m wide, 
the lower, middle and upper rails all 0.21m deep. 

The framework on which the panelling was set made it clear that the construction 
dated to the mid 20th century. 

Wall Set Memorials by the North Door (figure 14) 

Four wall-mounted memorials by the north door were photographed in their then 
positions as the new shop area would largely obscure them.  The memorials appear 
to have been designed as outdoor gravestones, but the lack of weathering would
indicate that they were never used as such. 
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Stonework Revealed on the Upper North Wall (figures 15-17)

Following removal of the north gallery aisle panelling the plaster was removed from 
the wall surface revealing the block clunch facing of the wall below.  Most of the 
stonework was cut into rectangular blocks of varying sizes infilled with smaller 
rubble. Only two pieces of reused stone were observed which may relate to the 
earlier church building, but which may equally derive from the masons yard and be 
unrelated.

Evidence of earlier (20th century) remedial and alteration work was clearly visible at 
the top of the wall in the form of inset concrete corbels to support the ceiling.  
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Figure 7: Panelling in Northwest Corner Office (1)
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Figure 8: Panelling in Northwest Corner Office (2)
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Figure 9: Panelling in Northwest Corner Office (3)
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Figure 10: Panelling in Northwest Corner Office (4)
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Figure 11: North Aisle Gallery Panelling
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Figure 12: South Aisle Gallery Panelling
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Figure 13: 20th Century Panelling at West end of South Aisle
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Figure 14: Memorials at the North Door
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Figure 15: North Aisle Gallery Wall
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Figure 16: North Aisle Gallery Wall (2)
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Figure 17: North Aisle Gallery Wall (3)
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Figure 18: After Completion

New Glass Entranceway at West Door Mezzanine Office

The Gibbs Staircase Exposed New Shop Area
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